#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

\_\_\_\_\_

No. 20-0786

JAMES FARNSWORTH II,

. 11

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF IOWA,

Appellee.

## ON APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT IN AND FOR CERRO GORDO COUNTY HONORABLE CHRIS FOY, JUDGE

\_\_\_\_\_

## APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF

PHILIP B. MEARS

Mears Law Office 209 East Washington Street Paul-Helen Building, Suite 203 Iowa City, Iowa 52240

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

#### **CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE**

On April 5, 2021, the undersigned certifies that a true copy of the foregoing instrument was served upon the Defendant-Appellant by placing one copy thereof in the United States mail, proper postage attached, addressed to:

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

## I: INEFFECTIVE COUNSEL REQUIRES A NEW TRIAL SINCE TRIAL COUNSEL DID NOT CONSULT WITH OR EMPLOY AN EXPERT PATHOLOGIST

State v. Albright, 925 N.W.2d 144 (Iowa 2019).

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 690, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed. 2d 675 (1984)

Taylor v State, 362 N.W. 2d 683 (Iowa 1984)

Meier v. State, 337 N.W.2d 204 (Iowa 1983)

Gering v. State, 382 N.W.2d 151 (Iowa 1986)

State v. Coker, 412 N.W.2d 589 (Iowa 1987)

<u>State v. Leutfaimany</u>, 585 N.W.2d 200 (Iowa 1998)

State v. Van Scoyoc, 511 N.W.2d 628 (Iowa App.,1993)

<u>Ledezma v. State</u>, 626 N.W.2d 134 (Iowa 2001)

Davis v. State, 520 N.W.2d 319 (Iowa App.,1994)

Hernandez v. State, 2005 WL3115850 (Iowa App. 2005)

Moon v. State, 2007 WL 1345732 (Iowa App., 2007)

<u>Lukinich v. State</u>, 2019 WL 333047 (Iowa App.,2007)

Linn v State. 929 N.W. 2d 717 (Iowa 2019)

Matter of Volk, 2018 WL 840184 (Wash. App., 2018)

Eaddy v. State, 845 So. 2d 961 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2003)

Byrd v. Trombley, 580 F. Supp. 2d 542 (E.D. Mich. 2008)

State v. Maurice, 903 P.2d 514 (Wash. App. 1995)

Gersten v. Senkowsi, 428 F.3d588 (2<sup>nd</sup> Cir. 2005)

## II: THERE WAS INEFFECTIVE COUNSEL REQUIRING A NEW TRIAL WHEN DEFENSE COUNSEL DID NOT MENTION THE STANDARD OF PROOF DURING CLOSING ARGUMENT

State v. Albright, 925 N.W.2d 144 (Iowa 2019).

Meier v. State, 337 N.W.2d 204 (Iowa 1983)

Gering v. State, 382 N.W.2d 151 (Iowa 1986)

State v. McGranahan 206 N.W.2d 88 (Iowa 1973)

III: AFTER THE PROSECUTOR TOLD THE JURY THAT THEY DID NOT HAVE TO BE UNANIMOUS IN DECIDING THE JUSTIFICATION ISSUE, THERE WAS INEFFECTIVE COUNSEL WHEN COUNSEL DID NOT CHALLENGE THE SUFFICIENCY OF EVIDENC THAT FARNSWORTH HAD INITIATED THE FATAL CONFLICT EITHER AT TRIAL OR ON APPEAL

State v. Albright, 925 N.W.2d 144 (Iowa 2019)

State v. Bratthauer, 354 N.W. 2d 774 (Iowa 1984)

State v. Schlitter, 881 N.W.2d 380 (Iowa, 2016)

State v. Taggart 430 N.W.2d. 423 (Iowa 1988)

State v. Tovar, 2018 WL 6132269 (Iowa App., 2018)

# IV: THE ADDITIONAL CLAIMS OF INEFFECTIVE COUNSEL, WHEN COMBINED WITH THE FIRST THREE CLAIMS, CUMULATIVELY REQUIRE A NEW TRIAL

State v. Albright, 925 N.W.2d 144 (Iowa 2019)

<u>Iowa Supreme Court Disciplinary Board v. Marx</u> 831 N.W.2d 194 (Iowa 2013)

Butcher v Mason City, 2014 WL 6681033 (Iowa App. 2014)

<u>State v. Smitherman</u>, 733 N.W.2d 341 (Iowa 2007)

State v. Vaughan, 859 N.W.2d 492 (Iowa 2015)

State v. Briggs, 666 N.W.2d 573 (Iowa 2003)

State v. Fletcher, 888 N.W.2d 880 (Iowa 2016)

State v. Clay, 824 N.W. 2d 488 (Iowa 2012)

## ROUTING STATEMENT

There is no reason under Rule 6.1101(2) for the Iowa Supreme Court to retain jurisdiction in this case. The claim involves the application of existing legal principles to Farnsworth's case.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### **Nature of the Case:**

This appeal is from the denial of postconviction relief regarding James Farnsworth's conviction for Second Degree Murder from Cerro Gordo County. Judge Chris Foy denied the Application on April 24, 2020. App. 32. On May 22, 2020 he denied the Motion to Amend the Findings. App. 62.

Farnsworth appealed. App. 64.

## **Course of Proceeding in criminal case:**

James Farnsworth was arrested on April 15, 2012 and charged with First Degree Murder.

Here is the timeline:

4/16/2012 Initial Appearance- Bond was set at \$100,000 cash.

4/27/2012 After a bond hearing, requested by his lawyer, the bond was doubled to \$200,000 cash with \$50,000 in Defendant's name. App. 8.

5/16/2012 Farnsworth was released.

1/14/2013 Trial begins.

1/22/2013 Farnsworth acquitted of First Degree; found guilty of Second Degree Murder.

3/8/2013 Farnsworth was sentenced to the mandatory 50 year sentence with 70% minimum and assessed the mandatory \$150,000 restitution. App. 11.

3/14/2013 Notice of Appeal filed.

5/30/2014 Court of Appeals argument

6/25/2014 State v Farnsworth, 2014 WL2884732 (Iowa App. 2014)

8/27/2014 Application for further review denied.

On September 23, 2014 David Roth, Farnsworth's lawyer both at trial and on appeal, committed suicide.

### **Course of Proceeding in postconviction:**

The Application for postconviction relief was filed on November 30, 2015.

App. 15. The hearing was held on August 29, 2019.

On April 24, 2020, Judge Chris Foy denied the application. App. 32. Farnsworth filed a timely Motion to Amend or Enlarge the findings. App. 45. Judge Foy denied that motion. App. 62.

Farnsworth appealed. App. 64.

## Judge Foy's Ruling

Judge Chris Foy denied the application. App. 32. Judge Foy acknowledged that Roth "had engaged in a pattern of fraudulent and unethical conduct over a period of years and had misappropriated millions of dollars from clients, the law firm and others." Ruling pg. 2. App. 33.

Judge Foy found that Farnsworth failed to show either a breach of duty or prejudice as to any of the claims. Judge Foy characterized the application as "built around the fact that Roth was found out to be an extremely unethical attorney."

Judge Foy made no findings with regard to many of the individual claims of misconduct. Farnsworth asked for specific findings in this Motion to amend or enlarge the findings. App. 45. Judge Foy denied the Motion. App. 62.

## Additional comments about procedural matters

#### **Bond**

The handling of the bond is a claim of Ineffective Counsel that appears in argument IV. The bond was originally set at \$100,000 cash. For a first degree murder case, this was not unreasonable. Nevertheless, Roth filed for a review. The bond was doubled. \$50,000 of the \$200,000 had to be posted in Farnsworth's name. This was a clear effort to establish a restitution fund, where the funds could be condemned.

#### **Pretrial Motions:**

The only pretrial Motions filed by the defense were one Motion to Continue and a short Motion in Limine. There was no Motion to Suppress.

On appeal, Roth argued that the State improperly commented on Farnsworth's post-Miranda silence. The Court of Appeals found the claim not preserved. 2014 WL2884732\*3 (Iowa App. 2014).

#### **Motions in Limine:**

After the State's Motion in Limine, David Roth had a response. His actual Motion however was never filed. It was considered by the Court as shown in the Ruling on January 2, 2013. App. 9. See also Transcript from hearing on limine Motions dated December 27, 2013 at page 2; lines 4-13; Exhibit 5. Roth sought to exclude all evidence about the evening's events at the bar where Farnsworth slapped Miller. Transcript from proceedings, dated December 27, 2013 at page 5; lines 22-25 to page 6 lines 1-4; Exhibit 5.

There was certainly a legal dispute about whether that "slap at the bar" was going to be legally sufficient to deny the justification defense. The State argued that Farnsworth could not claim "justification" as he had "started the incident which resulted in injury or death." Limine Tr. p. 6-7, lines 6-25, 1-23.

It was frivolous for Roth to argue that the Court exclude evidence about the slap entirely. The judge denied the Defendant's Motion on January 2, 2013. App. 9.

### **Jury Instructions:**

The State submitted a set of Jury Instruction. PCR Exhibit 10. Roth submitted no proposed instructions.

The State did not submit a proposed instruction regarding the lack of unanimity with regard to the justification alternatives. This did not stop the

prosecutor from telling the jury what the law was on that point in closing arguments. See brief at page 59.

Roth complained about Instruction 24 but offered no alternative.

On appeal his complaint about who legally started the confrontation had to be presented by arguing that the prosecutor committed misconduct when she argued that the slap started the fatal contact.

This argument was rejected by the Court of Appeals as unpreserved. 2014 WL2884732\*3 (Iowa App. 2014)

### **Closing Arguments:**

Closing arguments are discussed elsewhere in this brief. There is the complaint that Roth failed to mention the standard of proof. See brief at page 55.

There is the discussion about the significance of the angle of the chest wound. This is discussed at page 40 of the brief. There is reference to the prosecutor's explanation to the jury about jury unanimity. See Brief at Pg. 59.

#### **DIRECT APPEAL**

Here is the timeline for the direct appeal, handled by David Roth.

3/14/2013 Notice of Appeal

3/21/2013 The filed Combined Certificate stated that the appeal was from a Guilty Plea and Sentencing, rather than from a murder jury trial. Exhibit 21. App. 122. The initial brief was due 25 days after the filing of the transcripts.

5/28/2013 Default Notice entered against Roth failed to file Brief.

6/3/2013 Roth files the Page Proof Brief.

6/10/2013 Roth pays the penalty.

8/28/2013. The State's brief was filed after two 30 day extensions. Roth's Appendix and any Reply brief were due on September 18, 2013.

9/16/2013 Roth asks for and was given an additional 7 days to file the Reply Brief and Appendix.

10/4/2013 Eleven days past the deadline, Roth files the Appendix and a Proof Reply Brief. The Final Reply brief was due no later than 21 days after the Appendix was filed.

2/6/2014 Supreme Court tells Roth to file Final Reply Brief within ten days, to be considered.

2/12/2014 Final Reply Brief filed

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

#### FACTUAL DISCUSSION ABOUT CRIMINAL CASE

The facts presented in the criminal case are obviously important. They are important in analyzing what mistakes were made. They are important in determining whether mistakes caused prejudice.

#### **Condensed version of the facts**

The following facts are the essential facts:

- 1. On April 13, 2012, James Farnsworth, aged 22, went to dinner with his girlfriend, Victoria Miller. They went to a party at a friend's apartment. The friend was Echo Dority. The entire group then went to a nearby bar.
- 2. Miller received a smiley face text from her ex-boyfriend, Ian Decker. He was the father of her child.
  - 3. Farnsworth saw the text, had an argument with Miller, and slapped Miller.
  - 4. Miller said she was done with Farnsworth.
  - 5. Without Farnsworth, Miller and friends walked back to the apartment.
- 6. Farnsworth followed. Along the way, Echo Dority kicked him in the crotch. Farnsworth left in his car.
  - 7. Ian Decker arrived.
  - 8. Farnsworth returns and Decker tells him to leave. He leaves.
  - 9. Farnsworth tried to call Miller. She would not talk to him.
- 10. Farnsworth returned again. While Farnsworth was trying to talk to Miller, Decker ran at Farnsworth.
- 11. Decker threw the first punch, hitting Farnsworth in the face, knocking him down. The fight did not last long.
- 12. There was significant evidence that Farnsworth was on the ground.

  Decker was above him. Farnsworth had a pocket knife. He thrust it at Decker several times, fatally injuring Decker with a wound in the chest.

13. Farnsworth left. He was located in the HyVee parking lot. He was taken into custody and then taken to a local hospital for possible injuries. He talked to the police at several points.

#### More detailed facts

The State presented 11 witnesses. Four were civilian witnesses who witnessed the fight when Decker attacked Farnsworth and Farnsworth stabbed him in response.

The State presented five police officer witnesses. One of those witnesses,

Officer Dustin Buck, was the officer who apprehended Farnsworth at the Hyvee.

The State presented two medical doctors including Dr. Julia Goodin, the state Medical Examiner who performed the autopsy.

The Defense offered only one short witness, Victoria Miller. She testified about one statement to police not long after the fight.

# Summary of State Civilian Witnesses Testimony Echo Dority

The party was at Dority's apartment. They went to a bar. Farnsworth slapped Miller. Dority called Decker, telling him what had happened and asking him to come over. (Crim. Tr. 210, lines 12-15). During that walk back to the apartment, she encountered Farnsworth and kicked him. (Crim. Tr. pg. 215, lines 8-10)

At the apartment, she and Miller went outside to wait for Decker. After he arrived, Farnsworth also arrived. Decker told Farnsworth to leave. He left. (Crim. Tr. 219, lines 10-11).

Then he came back. This time Miller said she would go talk to him. At that point, she went around the building to do just that.

Dority described Decker as getting angrier. He took off his coat. He then ran around the corner at Farnsworth. Crim. Tr. p. 224, lines 4-5.

On cross, she said she tried to hold Decker back. But he was going to fight Farnsworth. Decker was the aggressor and Farnsworth was not intimidating anyone. Crim. Tr. p. 224, lines 4-5.

#### Victoria Miller

Victoria Miller was Farnsworth's girlfriend. She dated Farnsworth for several months. She had a small child with Decker.

At the bar she got a smiley face text from Decker. Farnsworth got upset. Farnsworth stormed off. Crim. Tr. p. 274, lines 7-11. She went to talk with Farnsworth. He slapped her. She told him they were done. Crim. Tr. p.279-280, lines 6-25, 1-8.

The group, without Farnsworth walked home. On arrival at the apartment, Farnsworth was there, outside, on the street. She called her dad and said to put

Farnsworth's stuff on the street. Farnsworth, saying he was going to kill himself, walked away. Crim. Tr. p.282-284, lines 1-8, 25, 1-7.

She and Dority went outside. Decker arrived. The three of them were talking when Farnsworth returned. Decker told Farnsworth to leave and he did. Crim. Tr. p. 291-292, lines 5-25, 1-5.

The party ended. Alyssa Fullerton and Derek Wentworth were getting in their car. Crim. Tr. p. 293, lines 18-20. Farnsworth returned. Miller went to talk to him. The two of them were around some corner. They could not see Dority and Decker.

Fullerton was in her car. Wentworth was yelling at Farnsworth. Miller testified that Farnsworth said that if Decker started anything, "I am going to fucking stab him." Crim. Tr. p. 294, line 21-22.

At that point, Decker came running up behind Miller and shoved Farnsworth backwards. They fought. Farnsworth was on his back. Decker was over him. Crim. Tr. p. 296, lines 13-19. They were both throwing punches.

## **Alyssa Fullerton**

Alyssa Fullerton, with her boyfriend Derek Wentworth, all went to the bar.

After the slapping incident Fullerton phoned Decker. He was worried about Miller.

She told him to stay home. (Crim. Tr. p. 339, lines 1-10)

They went back to Dority's apartment without Farnsworth. When she was leaving with Wentworth, Decker showed up. (Crim. Tr. p. 343, lines 18-20). She and Wentworth had reached the car when Farnsworth arrived. Wentworth walked across the street where Farnsworth was. Miller came around the corner and started talking with Farnsworth. Crim. Tr. p. 345-346, lines 22-26, 1-23.

Decker came around the corner. Dority tried to stop him. He was running. He went right for Farnsworth and started fighting. Farnsworth was on his knees. Decker was punching him in the face. Both got up and someone yelled "He had a knife". Crim. Tr. 346-347, lines 24-26, 1-13.

On cross, she acknowledged the obvious. Decker started the physical altercation. Farnsworth had just been talking to Miller when the fight began. (Crim. Tr. p. 371, lines 15-18).

#### **Derek Wentworth**

Derek Wentworth lived Fullerton. He went to the party. Crim. Tr. p. 399, lines 4-9. He went to the bar where Farnsworth slapped Miller. He had told Farnsworth he was a "piece of shit." Crim. Tr. p. 402, lines 17-20.

They went back to Dority's. Later he was leaving with Fullerton.

Dority and Miller were outside. Miller was on the phone with Farnsworth.

As he reached the car he saw Farnsworth.

Wentworth went over to talk to Farnsworth, telling him to leave. He and Farnsworth and Miller were all talking together. He did not hear any comment from Farnsworth about having a knife. Crim. Tr. p.427, lines 15-19.

Decker came up. They started fighting. Crim. Tr. p. 413, lines 6-7. Decker threw the first punch. He saw Decker over top of Farnsworth, striking him. Crim. Tr. p. 429, lines 4-16 He hit Farnsworth 1-2 times, in the face. Crim. Tr. p.413, lines 8-15. On cross, he said he was close enough that he could talk to Farnsworth in a normal tone. (Crim. Tr. p. 426, lines 17-19). He did not hear the comment about Farnsworth possibly using a knife.

#### **Police officer testimony**

Five police officers testified for the State.

The one witness of importance was Officer Dustin Buck. He had contacted and then arrested Farnsworth. He testified about what Farnsworth told him.

## **Medical testimony**

Two doctors testified for the State.

Dr. Madden-Le Duc worked the emergency room that night. She treated Farnsworth. Crim. Tr. p. 469-470, lines 19-25, 1-4. He had injuries to his nose along with abrasions on his shoulder and knees. Crim. Tr. p. 471, lines 16-21. She conducted a neurological exam, ruling out a head injury. No one told her about any injury to the back of his head.

The State Medical Examiner, Dr. Julia Goodin, testified. She did the autopsy. Her testimony is discussed in Issue I regarding Roth not having his own expert. It is also discussed in Issue IV, at page 73.

The chest wound was the fatal wound. There was a cutting wound on the left forearm. There was the stab wound to the thigh.

With David Roth's assistance, she testified that the fatal wound was "slightly downward." Crim. Tr. p. 492, lines 1-3.

## James Farnsworth side of the story

James Farnsworth did not testify. His side of the confrontation came in through Officer Buck. He talked with Buck at the HyVee parking lot and then at the station.

Here is what Farnsworth said according to Buck's testimony at trial.

"He ran at me because I am dating his ex-girlfriend,... He ran at me and punched me four or five times. My right hand was in my pocket and that is where my knife was. I pulled it out and flung it around. That is when he fell down." Crim. Tr. p. 444, lines 11-16.

## Farnsworth's Knowledge of Decker's violent nature

Farnsworth told Buck that when Decker ran at him he was "fucking scared." Crim. Tr. p. 454, lines 7-9. Farnsworth knew something of Decker's violent nature.

Farnsworth knew Decker had studied Taekwondo. Crim. Tr. pg. 213-14, lines 21-25, 1. Miller told Farnsworth that Decker had beaten someone in a case of road rage. Crim. Tr. p. 277, lines 11-15.

#### **FACTS FROM POSTCONVICTION**

Much of the evidence at the hearing was about David Roth. Evidence was presented regarding his financial misdeeds, along with his very real lack of experience dealing with serious felony cases.

Judge Foy summarized the evidence with regard to his financial misdeeds.

Roth committed suicide on September 23, 2014, about two weeks after his partners at Gallagher-Langlas & Gallagher first learned of irregularities in the way Roth had been handling the finances of the law firm. After Roth died, it was discovered that he had engaged in a pattern of fraudulent and unethical conduct over a period of years and had misappropriated millions of dollars from clients, the law firm, and others. Ruling pg. 2, App. 33.

Judge Foy did not see the relevancy of this evidence. He never made findings about the lack of experience.

This evidence was importation. Once you understand Roth's misconduct and his lack of experience with serious criminal trials, you can better understand his representation of Farnsworth. Roth's actions were not the result of "strategy."

Instead, Roth was a person in over his head, who just played out the case to avoid anyone asking for an accounting of the \$90,000 he had received.

#### Witnesses from the postconviction hearing

Farnsworth called four witnesses.

The first was Angela Barnard, the sister of the applicant, James Farnsworth.<sup>1</sup> She was the family member who primarily talked about the case with Roth.

After Roth's death, she obtained the entire file from Roth's office. There were a number of things learned at that point. They did not know about a possible conflict of interest with the City of Mason City. They did not know there had been a plea offer. They did not know about the payment to the landscape company. They had never seen most of the bills.

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