IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA Supreme Court No. 20-0786

JAMES FARNSWORTH II, Applicant-Appellant,

VS.

STATE OF IOWA, Respondent-Appellee.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR CERRO GORDO COUNTY THE HONORABLE CHRIS FOY, JUDGE

APPELLEE'S BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER Attorney General of Iowa

KYLE HANSON

Assistant Attorney General Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor Des Moines, Iowa 50319 (515) 281-5976 (515) 281-4902 (fax) kyle.hanson@ag.iowa.gov

CARLYLE DALEN Cerro Gordo County Attorney

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT-APPELLEE

FINAL

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

with Decker. Trial Tr. 294:12–22, 410:22–412:22. This evidence proved Farnsworth had many opportunities to avoid the fatal confrontation without endangering himself, but he did not follow those alternative courses of action before fatally stabbing Decker.

Next, Dr. Randall's opinion did not change the fact that
Farnsworth lacked a reasonable belief that deadly force was
necessary. If he were fearful of Decker, then he would not have
inflamed the tense situation by returning over and over despite
repeatedly being told to leave. Although Decker had taken taekwondo
as a child, Farnsworth had joked about it and indicated he was not
afraid because "he had a gun." Trial Tr. 212:11–214:3. Farnsworth
returned to the scene knowing Decker was there, and he threatened,
"If Ian tries anything, I'm going to fuckin' stab him." Trial Tr. 294:21–
22. While a reasonable person experiencing true fear would not have
stirred the hornets' nest, the evidence proved Farnsworth willingly
entered the situation in anticipation of a violent encounter.

Likewise, Dr. Randall's opinion did not change the fact that

Farnsworth used unreasonable force. As the prosecutor summarized,

Farnsworth "brought a knife to a fist fight." Trial Tr. 519:25–520:1.

He kept a knife in the center console of his car and never carried it on

his person (Trial Tr. 295:11–296:8), but he had the knife in his pocket when he came "barreling back" to the scene for the fatal encounter. He then engaged in mutual hand-to-hand fighting by grappling and trading blows with Decker. Trial Tr. 225:7–24, 296:16–297:11, 347:5–18. He unilaterally changed the fistfight into a knife fight by stabbing Decker at least two times, causing him to bleed to death. Trial Tr. 480:22–489:4. Meanwhile, Farnsworth had only minor injuries and "perhaps" a broken nose, but he refused further treatment. Trial Tr. 471:16–472:22. This evidence proved Farnsworth responded to a nonlethal fistfight with disproportionate deadly force, even if the jury had accepted Dr. Randall's speculation about body position and the number of stabbing motions.

Finally, Dr. Randall's opinion did not change the fact that Farnsworth provoked the use of force intending to use it as an excuse to stab Decker. Farnsworth shared his plan by threatening, "If Ian tries anything, I'm going to fuckin' stab him." Trial Tr. 294:21–22. This statement and his actions proved his intent to provoke a violent response and use Decker's first punch as an excuse to unleash deadly force.

Farnsworth overstates how much Dr. Randall's testimony could have "undercut" or "refuted" the prosecutor's closing argument. He claims the prosecutor "explained that this was hard science..." Applicant's Br. at 52. But the prosecutor never used the term "hard science" or suggested that her interpretation of the wound angle was based on any scientific method or expertise. Next, Farnsworth emphasizes that the prosecutor mentioned the angle of the wound "not once, but twice." Applicant's Proof Br. at 52. But the prosecutor's inference about the wound angle comprises just a few lines among twenty pages of closing arguments. She made many convincing points, yet Dr. Randall's opinion only could have "refuted" a couple of them. The jury based its verdict on the totality of the evidence, not the few insular points a defense expert could have attacked.

Farnsworth failed to prove a reasonable probability of a different outcome. It was not enough that an expert might have convinced the jury that "the wound very well could have been inflicted when Decker was standing over Farnsworth" or that "the arm injury could have been a deflection into the chest." Applicant's Proof Br. at 51. What mattered to the jury's verdict was the evidence proving that Farnsworth continually re-engaged in a situation he knew could turn

violent, that he could have avoided the confrontation but chose to return, that he armed himself with a knife for a fistfight, and that he carried through with using deadly force after the victim's first punch. The evidence as a whole disproved Farnsworth's self-defense theory, so the lack of an expert to speculate about limited points did not alter the jury's verdict. Accordingly, the district court properly concluded that "None of the opinions expressed by Dr. Randall in his report undermines the confidence of the Court in the correctness of the guilty verdict returned by the jury." Ruling at 7; App. 38.

II. Farnsworth Failed to Prove Ineffective Assistance Just Because Trial Counsel Did Not Mention the Phrase "Reasonable Doubt" During Closing Arguments.

Preservation of Error

The State does not challenge error preservation. Farnsworth raised the burden-of-proof issue and received an adverse ruling in the district court. Ruling (4/24/2020) at 6–7; App. 37–38.

Standard of Review

Claims of ineffective assistance of counsel are reviewed de novo. Straw, 709 N.W.2d at 133.

Discussion

The reasonable-doubt standard was apparent even though trial counsel did not say the words "reasonable doubt" in his closing

argument. The fact that many defense attorneys fixate on reasonable doubt does not make the phrase an indispensable element of a reasonably competent closing. Farnsworth's jury knew the State's burden to prove its case beyond a reasonable doubt, so the district court correctly concluded he failed to prove ineffective assistance.

Farnsworth concedes that his ineffective assistance claim has no support in existing precedent. He "has not been able to find any case where counsel was declared ineffective for failing to mention or discuss the standard of proof..." Applicant's Proof Br. at 56. Although he finds the point "self-evident," the reasonable-competence standard does not depend on how his current attorney would craft a closing argument. There is no script for closing arguments—attorneys enjoy significant latitude when choosing what law and facts to emphasize during their summations.

The record demonstrates that trial counsel delivered a reasonably competent closing argument. Attorney Roth did emphasize that "The State has the burden of proof and the responsibility to prove all elements of the crimes charged." Trial Tr. 529:1–2. Additionally, attorney Roth argued that the State's witnesses lacked credibility because their testimony was contradictory and

uncorroborated. Trial Tr. 529:2–532:13. Then he gave a detailed summary of the facts supporting Farnsworth's self-defense claim.

Trial Tr. 532:14–541:7. This closing argument effectively communicated the defense's theory of the case even though counsel did not say the words "reasonable doubt."

Although trial counsel did not utter the phrase during his closing argument, the jury was well aware of the reasonable-doubt standard. The parties used the term "reasonable doubt" approximately two dozen times during jury selection. *See generally* Trial Tr. 67:2–171:16 (word search for "reasonable doubt"). While Farnsworth complains that attorney Roth did not say "reasonable doubt" during his closing argument, the prosecutor readily shouldered the burden of proof by discussing reasonable doubt at least three times. Trial Tr. 516:17–22, 523:5–12, 542:11–18. And most fundamentally, multiple jury instructions left no question about the State's burden of proof:

• Instruction 2 explained that Farnsworth's not-guilty plea "places the burden on the State to prove guilt beyond a reasonable doubt," that when "the State must prove something, it must be by evidence beyond a reasonable doubt," and that the jury must return a not-

- guilty verdict "[i]f the State does not prove the defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt." PCR Ex. 9 (jury instr. 2); App. 67.
- Instruction 3 explained that Farnsworth was presumed innocent and that the presumption of innocence remains "unless the evidence establishes guilt beyond a reasonable doubt." PCR Ex. 9 (jury instr. 3); App. 67.
- Instruction 13 plainly stated, "The burden is on the State to prove the defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt." PCR Ex. 9 (jury instr. 13); App. 73. The instruction continued with a detailed definition of the reasonable-doubt standard, including that "if...you are not firmly convinced of the defendant's guilt, then you have a reasonable doubt and you should find the defendant not guilty." *Id*.
- Instruction 14 explained, "If there is a reasonable doubt as to the degree of the crime, the defendant shall only be convicted of the degree for which there is no reasonable doubt." PCR Ex. 9 (jury instr. 14); App. 73.

The course of trial and the jury instructions adequately informed the jury of the reasonable-doubt standard even though counsel did not say those exact words during his closing argument.

Finally, Farnsworth provides no basis to find a reasonable probability of a different result. He only offers the conclusory declaration that "[t]here cannot be confidence in a verdict" when counsel failed to mention "beyond a reasonable doubt." Applicant's Proof Br. at 57. But the district court properly recognized that attorney Roth's closing argument "gave the jury much to reflect on and work through before reaching its verdict." Ruling at 7; App. 38. In fact, attorney Roth's closing argument led the jury to deliberate for almost four hours and successfully persuaded jurors to acquit Farnsworth of first-degree murder. Ruling at 6–7; App. 37–38. And as detailed above in section I(B) (pp. 18–24), the evidence convincingly disproved Farnsworth's self-defense theory.

Farnsworth was convicted because the evidence proved him guilty, not because his attorney failed to say the phrase "reasonable doubt" during closing argument. The jury instructions clearly and repeatedly stated the burden to prove guilt beyond a reasonable doubt, and the jury is presumed to have followed that law. *See, e.g.*, *State v. Proctor*, 585 N.W.2d 841, 845 (Iowa 1998) ("A jury is presumed to follow the court's instructions."). Counsel had no duty to repeat the phrase, and there is no reasonable probability of a different

result had he done so. Accordingly, this Court should reject Farnsworth's ineffective assistance challenge.

III. Farnsworth Failed to Prove Ineffective Assistance
Because the Prosecutor's Closing Argument Accurately
Stated the Law and Because Sufficient Evidence
Proved Farnsworth "Started or Continued" the Fatal
Incident.

Preservation of Error

The State does not challenge error preservation. Farnsworth raised the sufficiency issue and received an adverse ruling in the district court. Ruling (4/24/2020) at 7–8; App. 38–39.

Standard of Review

Claims of ineffective assistance of counsel are reviewed de novo.

Straw, 709 N.W.2d at 133.

Discussion

Farnsworth's complicated challenge is defeated with a simple answer. He meanders through a discussion about jury unanimity and the legal disqualification of self-defense for a party who started or continued the fatal incident. But his argument fails because sufficient evidence did prove he started or continued the incident that ended with him fatally stabbing an unarmed man.

To start, Farnsworth mistakenly asserts that "[w]hen [trial counsel] sought a directed verdict, he did not specifically object to the

fact that there was not sufficient evidence with regard to each of the five justification factors." Applicant's Proof Br. at 63. Yet

Farnsworth's current challenge does not address all five disqualifying factors—he only disputes the first factor about starting or continuing the incident. *See* Applicant's Proof Br. at 61 (arguing "there was not sufficient evidence to support Reason #1"). Farnsworth overlooks that attorney Roth's motion for judgment of acquittal *did* specifically address who started the fatal encounter:

Further, that the State has not proven, given that every witness that testified on behalf of the State, indicated that Ian Decker initiated the action, commenced the first blows. And that every witness produced by the State indicated that Mr. Farnsworth absorbed those blows and was below Mr. Decker. That the State has not proved, as they are required to do, that the defendant was not justified....

Trial Tr. 496:19–25. The State resisted with argument about who started the incident. *See* Trial Tr. 498:7–11 ("You cannot set up the incident and then claim self-defense because one blow with a fist was thrown after you yourself had armed yourself and then pulled out a deadly weapon and stabbed someone to death."). Finally, the district court's ruling on the motion for judgment of acquittal found sufficient evidence on "the elements of self-defense." Trial Tr. 498:17:24. Thus,

trial counsel did competently challenge the sufficiency of the evidence about who started the incident.

Similarly, Farnsworth discounts the extent to which attorney Roth challenged the "started or continued" disqualifier on direct appeal. Attorney Roth's appellate brief argued at length about whether Farnsworth started the incident by slapping his girlfriend hours before what he called the "final altercation." PCR Ex. 23 (appellant's brief in 13-0401) at 5-12, 18-20; App. 140-47, 153-55. The State's brief responded that the series of events leading up to the stabbing was relevant to evaluate whether Farnsworth started or continued the incident. PCR Ex. 24 (State's brief in 13-0401) at 18-24; App. 187–93. And the Court of Appeals ruled, "Farnsworth cannot show the prosecutor improperly referenced his conduct from earlier in the evening, that is, slapping Miller at the bar. The jury must consider the complete story of the crime in deciding whether Farnsworth started or continued the incident, as required of a justification defense." Farnsworth, 2014 WL 2884732, at *3. Although attorney Roth framed the issue in terms of prosecutorial misconduct rather than sufficiency, appellate counsel has no obligation to assign every possible error. See, e.g., Cuevas v. State,

415 N.W.2d 630, 633 (Iowa 1987) ("[M]ost experienced appellate lawyers or judges will attest it is a tactical blunder, often devastating to an appellant, to assign every conceivable complaint."). The fact that the Court of Appeals rejected Farnsworth's myopic view of the "started or continued" element undercuts his current effort to repackage the issue as an ineffective-assistance challenge.

Farnsworth misplaces emphasis on his accusation that "the prosecutor essentially made up the jury instruction" about unanimity of alternative elements. Applicant's Proof Br. at 60. She did not "make up" the law—Farnsworth concedes it "has been the law in Iowa for 35 years" that "where alternative theories are presented, an instruction can be allowed for the jury to be less than unanimous in picking the theory." Applicant's Proof Br. at 58 (citing State v. Bratthauer, 354 N.W.2d 774 (Iowa 1984). He even concedes, "In all likelihood, the statement by the Prosecutor to the jury during closing arguments regarding unanimity was a correct statement in the law." Applicant's Proof Br. at 72. Still, he complains that the lack of objection from attorney Roth meant the prosecutor's closingargument statement "became law of the case." Applicant's Proof Br. at 64. But the case he cites recognizes law of the case for "[f]ailure to

object to an instruction..." State v. Taggart, 430 N.W.2d 423, 425 (Iowa 1988) (emphasis added). The prosecutor's statement was not the equivalent of an instruction given by the court—rather, the court expressly cautioned the jury that the parties' closing arguments were only "their respective view of the facts and the law." Trial Tr. 515:13–17. Therefore, there was no need for attorney Roth to object to the prosecutor stating her understanding of the law, which Farnsworth now agrees was a correct statement of the law.

Farnsworth fails to prove the crux of his argument. After much ado setting up "the steps in the analysis," he declares that "[t]here is prejudice since theory #1 was not supported by the evidence."

Applicant's Proof Br. at 64–66. That "theory #1" refers to the self-defense disqualifier if the State proved, "The defendant started or continued the incident which resulted in injury or death." PCR Ex. 9 (jury instr. 24); App. 81. Contrary to his conclusion, sufficient evidence did support a finding that he started or continued the fatal incident.

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